QOUNTARY ARDNOTE SASTVUAN MOURS

-
—t——— (7
e ———— e e :

—— -

The Lost Histor of
Innis Arden Cottage

By Christopher P. Franco

ho would have thought a year ago that research inte the history of the charming
beach cottage at Greenwich Point would take us on such a fascinating journey?
Using the investigative capabilities of the [nternet, we visited the corridors of high
finance in tum-of-the-cenrury New York, the field hospitals of the Spanish- American War

and Warld War [, the historical photo archives of the George Eastnan House in Rochester,

New York, and a rare book shop in Santa Fe, New Mexico.




Anna Maxwell (seated, second from [eft) and her nursas escaped the
sweltering New York summer heat for the cooling breezes of knnis Arden.
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(opposite page) still stands but the stained glass window I5 lost.
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of rooms, which were used by the nurses as sleeping quarters.

The exterior of the cottage originally had a narrow open
porch at the cove-side entrance, centered under the gable,
with ends topped by shoulder-high flower boxes. Its exte-

rior was clad in stone and cedar shake shingles, the

ement sashes and Dutch door rops had dia-

window cas
mond lights, and its profile was dominared by a low-slung
roofiine. The original row of dormers was exparded some-
time after 1911].

rican Florence
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use of trained nurses during the Spanish-American War,
as well as the establishment of the Army Nurse Corps dur-
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the New York-Presbyterian Hospical, she
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The Tods” estate, Innis Arden, was left to the Presbyrerian
Huspital upon the dearh of Mr. Tod in 1925,
of the

subject to the use
property by Mrs. Tod during hes lifetime. Fortunately for
the residents of Greenwich, she lived a long and fruidul life.
Had she not survived her husband by so many years, Innis
.-"'.I'dul‘. Honse, tltc m:‘;::miiq:x:l mansion of r:‘l'rr','-l‘.u‘lc rooms,
would likely have become a convalescent home for the hospital
and its nurses, as originally inrended by Mr. Tod, In 1935, how-
ver, a ';).lt of one million dollars 1o the hcl-.;'-ir::l for the creation
of the Mary Harkness Convalescent Home in Port Chesrer lefi
N0 reason to retain the estate; so in 1945, the haspital sold the
estate to hc town. The m; ANSION, CONYEITe d into thirreen apart-
ments, was leased to reruming Workd War 11 veterans before it
was finally demolished by the town in 1961
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Innis Arden Collage i used today as a bathhouse, with several dozen
residents enjoying its private rooms as seasonal “lockers.”
In addition, several oceanographic organizations use a few

of the first-floor rooms for educational purposes.

Miss Maxwell, as she was known to her students, was the
founding director of the Presbyterian Hospital School of
Nursing, now known as the Columbia University School
of Nursing, She co-authored early textbooks that revolution-
In 1929 che

was buried ar Arlingrton National Cemetery in recognition of

ized rthe reaching of modern nursing rechnigues.

her distinguished service to our ¢ountry. Today there arc

Kennedy, an uncle from Glasgow, Scotland, served as president

of the board of the Presbyterian Hospiral. }v.:m'.f.'va built his for-
tune as the American representative of the Scotrish-American
Investment Company, which contrelled much of the invest-
ment of Scottish capital in the United States ar thar time. He
alse financed some of the ].‘cr_?L‘S-T ailroads and mimmg opera-
tions in the country. An ardent supporter of a training school
for nurses, he donated a million dollars to build one and rec-
ommended an accomplished woman of Scotrish descent for the
post of director: Anna Maxwell.
Kennedy's interest in the hospiral and the numsing school
could hardly have been lost on his nephew, |. Kennedy Toxd,
who was n the process of assuming control of the husiness of
1.8. Kennedy & Co. about the time the school was founded. The
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summer to “accept [the Tods’) hospitality
during July and August at Innis Arden.”

Those early visits by the nurses o
Innis Arden House made a positive
impression on the Tods: The nurses were
about to become the beneficiaries of a
seemingly unrelated development in the
life of the Tods and their private estate.
Since November 1899, the estate had
been the home of the nine-hole golf

- course used by the Innis Arden Golf
; Club, which had been founded with

sixty-four charter members, amang them
carly luminaries in the town’s history,
including Edwin Binney, Benjamin
Ferris, H. O. Havemeyer, Edwin Lucas

- and Luke Lockwood.

Innis Arden, which is Gaelic for “high

' meadow,” was considered an ideal locale
" for golf, since its eastern end, where che

course was laid out, consisted almast
entirely of meadowlands. So beautiful
was the setting, in fact, that a 1902 Golf
Magazine article described the course as
“the chosen home of golf as it should be
played ... no golf course in the metropol-
itan district can compare with Innis
Arden for picturesqueness of surround-
ings." However, on May 2, 1904 — a
warm and sunny day, perfect for golf —
Mr. Tod asrived a bit late for his custom-
ary Saturday round, and not a single
caddie was left for him. For |. Kennedy
Tod, who had been feeling of late that his
hospitality was being abused by the
neighbors, golfers and picnickers he had
permitred e use his estate, this indignity
was the last straw. From that day forward,
Tod banished all, including the golf club
members, from Innis Arden.,

Ar about the same time, Innis Arzden
Cottage, which was located immediarely
outside the original gate of the estate,
was completed. The causeway had nor
yet been fully built and the garchouse,
then called the Lodge, was originally
located in what is now the parking lot
adjacent 1o the Seaside Center.

The Tods generously offered Innis
Arden Cottage for “rest and relaxarion”™
o Miss Maxwell and her nurses, and in
1906 made the armangement permanent.
From May 1 through December | of each

year, continuing through 1913, the
nurses had wse of the coage. Dr. C.
Irving Fisher, Presbyrerian Hospital
director and an accomplished amareur
photographer, took several photographs
of the cottage and the nursing staff in
1907 and 1911. These photos, which sue-
vive in the archives of the George
Eastman House, show the beautiful orig-
inal detail of the interior and exterior of
the cotrage.

After 1913 the cortage was “put o
another use” (it is thought that Mr. and
Mrs. Tod lived in Innis Arden Cortage
during the war years, due to the shortage
of fuel to run their mansion), and the
“nurses camp for convalescence and
recreation at Innis Arden” was moved o
a point farther out an the west side of the
estate. The Tods built several freestand-
ing two-room cotrages for the nurses on
the current site of the picnic area facing
the Manharan skyline, which remained
there until after the purchase of
Greenwich Point by the town.

Mrs. Tod's niece, Elizabeth, also a
nurse, and her husband, Sigourney
Olney, lived on the estate until Mes.
Tod's dearh, in later years occupying
Innis Arden Cottage. After the maost
valuable objects were removed from
Innis Arden House for auction in 1940
by Parke-Bemnet Galleries, Margaret W.
Stevenszon, a lifelong friend and com-
panion of Mrs. Tod — and also a
Presbyterian Hospital nurse — inher-
ited the bulk of the remaining
furnishings.

Although the mansion s lost to the
town forever, it is not oo late o save
Innis Arden Cottage from disintegrarion.
Today, as it enters its second century of
service, a lictle sleuthing and some very
good luck have unveiled ics fascinating
history and gracious identicy. Let’s hope
that our rediscovery of its historical
importance and relevance to Greenwich
Point will be an inspiradon for the
preservation of this town treasure.

In August the Greenwich Poinz Conservancy

is launching a capital compaign for the restora-
tion of the Innis Arden Couage.




